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THE ROMAN AND ISLAMIC CITY OF TINNIS:
A HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL
INTRODUCTION

By Alison L. Gascoigne, John P. Cooper and Ziad Morsy




¥ Introduction

The archaeological site of Tell Tinnis,
on an island in Lake Manzala in north-
eastern Egypt, was an important port and
manufacturing centre for textiles in late
Roman and early Islamic times before its
abandonment in the 13th century (all dates
are AD/CE unless otherwise specified).
Although there is very little to be seen at the
site today, beneath the ground are important
archaeological deposits that tell us much
about what the town may have looked like,
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and the lives of its inhabitants.

This booklet provides an overview of the
site. based on fieldwork undertaken there
over the last few years in collaboration with
the Ministry of Antiquities. It provides a
summary of some of the main features of al-Fustaty Cairel
the settlement, illustrated with photographs

and plans, which we hope will be of value
N
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to all those with an interest in this period of A 2

Egypt’s past, not just archaeologists. The short _ . , .
Map of the Nile delta indicating the location of Tinnis and of other

important sites and features in the area (drawn by M.J. Harrison).
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bibliography at the end lists more detailed
archaeological and historical accounts of the

town, some of which are available online.

This booklet was produced with generous support from the Barakat Trust (www.barakat.org), to whom

we are most grateful.

Alison L. Gascoigne
Email: A.L.Gascoigne@soton.ac.uk
Website: https:/ /www.southampton.ac.uk/archaeology/about/ staff/alg Iw07 page
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Fishermen working on their fish traps among the reeds close to the
shores of the island of Tinnis (photograph by J.P. Cooper).
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£ o3 Geographical Setting

The ruins of Tinnis are located on an island in Lake Manzala, some 8km south-west of Port Said, on the
southern side of the ferry channel that runs between Port Said and Matariya. Apart from this channel,
Lake Manzala is very shallow, and it is much smaller than it used to be due to recent schemes of land
reclamation. The lake is used intensively for ﬁshing activities by the local population, a few of whom live
on the northern tip of Tinnis’s island.

There are many islands in Lake Manzala, created by various processes. Some formed in places where the
coastline used to lie before it extended northwards to its current location, around the mid-Ist millenium
BC. Others appear to have grown along the banks of former branches of the River Nile, now disappeared.
Tinnis is one of a few large islands in the lake, and boreholes sunk there in 2012 indicated that it grew as a
shallow beach under the action of waves and currents, before being expanded both naturally and artificially
and built up into a crowded city.

Sailing boat and fish traps in Lake Manzala A3l 5 jean AMlanl) diliaa & S ja
(photograph by J.P. Cooper). (55 .07 sisal)
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%% The History of the City

The earliest mention of Tinnis, under its Coptic name Thennesos, occurs in the Writings of the
4th—century visitor to Egypt, John Cassian. There is no convincing evidence that Tinnis existed as
a town of any significance much earlier than this. John Cassian commented that the inhabitants
“are so surrounded by the sea and by salt swamps that, because there is no land, they have to devote
themselves to commerce alone and get their wealth and substance from sea trade.” Thus, Tinnis’s

earliest function seems to have been as a port.

Following the Arab conquest of Egypt in 642, the town grew in importance and benefitted from
investment, with Abbasid caliph al-Mutawwakil (r. 847-861) constructing enclosure walls, and
Ahmad bin Tulun (r. 868-884) building cisterns and markets there. An important textile industry
developed on the island, with cloths of high quality and great value produced in the town’s workshops.
Many of the workers in these industries were Coptic Christians, and the town was still a bishopric
as late as the I1th century.

At the peak of its prosperity, the city was clearly teeming with people and buildings. Al-Magqdisi, who
lived in the second half of the I10th century, described it as “Baghdad in miniature!”, although he also
added that it was “a boring, filthy place”!

Tinnis suffered from a number of attacks from the sea, in particular during 1153-4, 1168, 1175-80
and 1219. With the prosperity of Tinnis’s industries damaged, the population gradually moved away
until only the Ayyubid garrison was left to face the Crusaders. Ultimately, even these last occupants
of the city left, and the defence of the north-eastern delta became focused instead on Damietta.
Sources as late as the ISth century, though, note that travellers continued to stop on the island on
their way to Gaza and Jerusalem.

Silk tiraz textile with embroidered kufic Arabic inscription o Tas (BS e G okl ae )l ke s (e g
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in Tinnis in the year AH 373/AD 983-4 (accession number
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Map of Tinnis from the Book of
Curiosities, dated between 1020-1050,
showing the walls and gates of the town
and its main waterways in schematic
form (MS.Arab.c.90, fols 35v-36r,
Bodleian Library, University of Oxford,;
reproduced by kind permission).
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Painting of the attack on Damietta during the Seventh Crusade, from
a manuscript of the Chroniques de France ou de St-Denis, dated
between 1332-1350 (British Library Royal 16 G VI, fol. 410v).
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¥ Research at Tinnis

Following its abandonment in the 13th century, Tinnis gradually crumbled into the archaeological site we
see today. It was helped in this by various events: material from Tinnis was reportedly dug out and used to

block a Nile river channel against hostile boats during the Greek War of Independence (1821-29), while
bricks from the site were used to rebuild the nearby town of Matariya following a major fire in 1907.

Archaeological excavations at Tinnis started soon after this in the early 20th century, when two scholars,
Achille Patricolo and Tewfik Dubray, dug at the site. Sadly, only very brief accounts of their work were
produced. More recently, archaeologists from the Ministry of Antiquities lead by Abbas al-Shinawy, Sayyid
al-Agamy Arafah and Tariq Ibrahim Husseiny undertook substantial excavations intermittently between
1979 and 2011 in several areas of Tinnis. This project uncovered a number of important structures,
including cisterns, a dye-works and one of the towers of the citadel.

Since 2004, a project lead by
Alison Gascoigne (University of
Southampton) and John Cooper
(University ~ of  Exeter),  has
undertaken a number of seasons of
surface survey in order to understand
the layout of the whole town, as a
complement to existing excavations
that investigated small areas in
detail. This project used geophysical
techniques to reveal the patterns of
buried walls, as well as close contour

survey by GPS and remote sensing
using satellite imagery.

Ground-penetrating radar, used here SO n el de daaa e Y
by archaeologists Ayman Muhammad - J‘y\ LS ol Jea Clading
Abd al-Aziz and John Cooper, can Caaii el el e CaiSAR A, fgal)

reveal buried features at specific depths

(photograph by A.L. Gascoigne). (nsSda ] el ima e
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The city wall of Tinnis no longer stands, but its
line is still marked by a ditch and bank, as well
as depressions where there used to be horseshoe-
shaped towers (photograph by J.P. Cooper).
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Tinnis’s enclosure wall was probably built by Abbasid caliph al-Mutawakkil, who also constructed
these walls at the site of Tell al-Farama (Pelusium), located at the former eastern edge of Lake
Manzala; today, al-Farama lies to the east of the Suez Canal (photograph by A.L. Gascoigne).
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£ The Fortifications

Tinnis was the site of a siege during the 7th-century Arab conquests, but we have no evidence as to whether
the town was fortified or not at this time. The Mamluk-era historian al-Magqrizi recorded that the Abbasid
caliph al-Mutawakkil constructed walls around a number of north-east delta towns including Tinnis in
853-4. The walls that surround the site today are probably those of al-Mutawakkil, although little of them
survives above ground. Despite this, their line can be easily traced around the town as a double bank with
central ditch, with regular depressions on the outside reflecting the form of horseshoe towers. It seems likely
that the brickwork was dug out to be reused after the town’s abandonment, creating the surviving contours.

Another historian and inhabitant of the town Ibn Bassam al-Tinnisi, writing in the first half of the
11th century, records the presence of a dar al-imara on the west side of the town, the location of which is
unknown. It may be beneath the site of the Ayyubid citadel, which was cut across the north-western corner

of the site on the orders of Salah al-Din, and appears to have been very strongly fortified.
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Plan of the citadel built by the Ayyubid sultan Salah al-Din over the N i N

north-west corner of the city (see map on p. 3), much of which was 0 9% Auasa ks LG"‘ S U'J \5 & jAﬂ
abandoned at the time of construction (image by J.P. Cooper).
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interpretation by A.L. Gascoigne).

£ o2 Important Buildings

Satellite imagery reveals the presence
of several important buildings on the
island. A large (c. 45 x 25m) three-
aisled basilica church with narthex
is of a form commonly constructed
in the Sth-6th century; it is located
next to an open square, perhaps
an agora, and may tell us where we
should look for the late Roman town.
By the walls in the north-east corner
of the site, a caravanserai provided
shelter to travellers. We can identify
this building by its distinctive shape,
with rounded corner towers and a
central courtyard, perhaps containing
a cistern. Further to the west, we can
make out traces of a congregational
mosque of unknown date, with a
gibla orientation towards the south.
This also appears to take the form
of a courtyard building, again with
possible cistern, surrounded on four

sides by arcades.
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45 The Water Supply

According to Ibn Bassam, the inhabitants of Tinnis
used wheels to lift water from the lake during the Nile
flood season, and stored it in cisterns on the island
for the rest of the year, when the lake was brackish.
Excavations in Tinnis have revealed cisterns, often
connected to water channels. In the largest area
of the Ministry of Antiquities’ excavations, no
fewer than sixteen cisterns of variable size and
construction were uncovered. Two different phases
of building have been identified, with earlier cisterns
being coated in pink plaster, while later ones, which
were built when the ground-level was higher, are
coated in a grey plaster containing ash. Some of the
cisterns show evidence of buttressing and repairs.
A system of channels connects various parts of the
water system, and a complex central cistern seems
to provide opportunities for testing or measuring
water flow. Clearly, the city was supplied with water
by an extraordinarily sophisticated system.
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Plan of the cisterns and channels revealed in the largest of

the areas excavated by archacologists from the Ministry of

Antiquities (see map on p. 3), with earlier cisterns in black
and later ones in white (drawn by N.J. Warner).
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When excavated, the roof of the largest
cistern in this area was overlain with white
marble slabs. These may have been the
paving of a courtyard inside an important
building such as a mosque, where the cistern
beneath would have provided water for
ritual ablutions. The imprint of the slabs
is aligned slightly differently to the cistern
itself, which might be because of the gibla
alignment of the building, but sadly nothing
of the building itself remains, so we cannot
be certain about its nature.

Plan of the Great Cistern, showing internal structure and repairs, inlet channels, access shafts and areas of the roof
with preserved slab impressions (drawn by N.J. Warner).
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Boats and fishing activity on Lake Manzala (photograph by J.P. Cooper). (S . .z _n gead) A jiall 8 joan Alan) dna ddaitl g ol 68l

%% The Canals and Harbours

Tinnis became a major port of Egypt's Mediterranean coast in the late Roman and medieval periods
thanks to its unique location in what is now Lake Manzala—often called Lake Tinnis in the medieval
period. The lake was connected to the Nile network via a number of river branches and canals, and to
the Mediterranean Sea through lake mouths that breached the coastal bar separating the two. The route
through the lake allowed shipping to avoid the hazardous conditions found at the nearby major Nile river
mouth at Damietta. Trade prospered as a result, and the city became integrated into a Mediterranean
trading network comprising the Levant, North Africa, Cyprus and the Byzantine lands. The I1th-century
Persian traveller Nasir-i Khusraw wrote that “there are at any given time at least a thousand ships at anchor
belonging both to private merchants and the Sultan.” Writing some decades later, the local historian Ibn
Bassam al-Tinnisi says that the number of merchant boats arriving from within Egypt was “innumerable.”

Archaeological investigation of the site of Tinnis has confirmed the existence of at least one harbour
canal running towards the centre of the city through a fortified water gate that pierced the city walls. Ibn
Bassam says that there were two of these, and a candidate for the second is visible on site in the form of a
long depression. Maritime activity was not just limited to these two intra-mural harbours, however. Vessels
probably moored all around the island, taking advantage of the city’s many gates. The Egyptian navy also

had a seasonal base on the west of the island, and fishing was an important aspect of the city’s economy.

View north along the canal that pierces the enclosure wall on the agall e smdl (388 Al BLED (sday Jladll 4ga ) shaia
south side, running towards the centre of the town (see map on p. 3; npad (3 Andia dday Al Hlail) salill S e elad diad g Ay siall

photograph by A.L. Gascoigne). N(SEYSEN A
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£ 8 Objects from the Site

Many small fragments of broken objects
lie on the surface of the island. Most
commonly seen are sherds of many
different kinds of pottery, both glazed and
unglazed. Some of these were brought over
long distances, including white porcelains
and porcelain-style pottery from China and
Iran. There are also pieces of large jars for

transport or storage (probably of oil) that
originally came from Palestine, probably Stonelilﬂp’sané:;);o(photograph wu‘t‘-fJTA‘—“LL‘“
near Jerusalem, as well as colourful glazed VAL Gascoge) R
bowls that were made in Egypt, although
we do not know whether these were brought
from Fustat/Cairo or made in Tinnis itself.
As well as pottery, small, broken objects
in copper-alloy, glass, bone and stone are
present on the surface. From these broken a0 R

and ruined everyday objects, we can begin

to understand the daily lives of the families,

workers, fisherfolk, traders and visitors

1cm
that lived, ate, bought and sold, played and ¢
Slept in the city. Tiny glass mosaic tessara, eludiadll (e piria 28
perhaps from a late antique & ol Jaiadll o 2l
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%% Threats to the Site and the Potential for Future Work

Tinnis today is not as remote as it was in the early Islamic period. The south-eastern corner of
Lake Manzala has been gradually reclaimed, so that the island is now only a few tens of metres
from the mainland. Since 2016, a main road has been under construction close to the eastern side
of Tinnis, and the dedicated staff of the Ministry of Antiquities have worked very hard to protect
the site in light of these new infrastructure projects; to them we are very grateful.

There is much more scope for archaeological work on the island. Scientific excavation of some
of the features so far identified, including major civic or religious buildings, but also areas of
housing and industrial activity, would doubtless tell us a great deal about the lives of the medieval
population, and their urban landscape and economic connections. Tinnis, as one of the most
important cities of medieval Egypt, can help to communicate the importance of Egypt in the
Islamic world over a long period of time, underlining its international economic and political

connections, and the creativity and ingenuity of its people.
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